FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
7/6/2021 1:55 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/7/2021
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 99954-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 82060-5-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MICHAEL E. COAKER & MARILEE B. COAKER & the martial community composed thereof,

Petitioners,

v.

THE WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Ian C. Cairns WSBA No. 43210 Howard M. Goodfriend WSBA No. 14355

1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

Attorneys for Petitioner

A.	Identity of Petitioners.			
В.	Court of Appeals Decision			
C.	Issues Presented for Review 1			
D.	Statemen	Statement of the Case2		
E.		t Why This Court Should Grant		
	rei cre	sinterprets RCW 51.48.055(4), nders the statute meaningless, and eates absurd results that will negatively fect Washington businesses		
	b.	its verb tense		
	c.	The decision below renders RCW 51.48.055(4) meaningless and forces businesses to file pointless bankruptcies		
	2. The Court of Appeals erroneously held the Coakers willfully failed to pay premiums between 2009 and 2012 based on their conduct in 2015.			
F.	Conclusio	on20		

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s) FEDERAL CASES
<i>U.S. v. Wilson</i> , 503 U.S. 329, 112 S. Ct. 1351, 117 L. Ed. 2d 593 (1992) 10
STATE CASES
Burns v. City of Seattle, 161 Wn.2d 129, 164 P.3d 475 (2007)15
Crosswhite v. Wash. State Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 197 Wn. App. 539, 389 P.3d 73118
Dependency of D.L.B., 186 Wn.2d 103, 376 P.3d 1099 (2016)
Estate of Bunch v. McGraw Residential Ctr., 174 Wn.2d 425, 275 P.3d 1119 (2012)10
Felt v. McCarthy, 130 Wn.2d 203, 922 P.2d 90 (1996)15
Frisino v. Seattle Sch. Dist. No. 1, 160 Wn. App. 765, 249 P.3d 1044, rev. denied, 172 Wn.2d 1013 (2011)15
Hopkins v. Wash. State Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 11 Wn. App.2d 349, 453 P.3d 755 (2019)17
Kastanis v. Educ. Emps. Credit Union, 122 Wn.2d 483, 859 P.2d 26 (1993), amended, 122 Wn.2d 483 (1994)11
Landstar Inway Inc. v. Samrow, 181 Wn. App. 109, 325 P.3d 327 (2014)12
Matter of Swanson, 115 Wn.2d 21, 804 P.2d 1 (1990)

Meisel v. M & N Mod. Hydraulic Press Co., 97 Wn.2d 403, 645 P.2d 689 (1982)20
Morgan v. Burks, 93 Wn.2d 580, 611 P.2d 751 (1980)12
Pope v. Univ. of Wash., 121 Wn.2d 479, 852 P.2d 1055 (1993), amended, 871 P.2d 590 (1994)18
In re Shawn A. Campbel & Spouse DBA & E Acoustics LLC, No. 13 12674, 2014 WL 1398630 (March 27, 2014) 18
Truckweld Equip. Co. v. Olson, 26 Wn. App. 638, 618 P.2d 1017 (1980)20
STATUTES
RCW 23B.14.30017
RCW 51.48.0204
RCW 51.48.0304
RCW 51.48.0404
RCW 51.48.055
11 U.S.C. § 727
RULES AND REGULATIONS
CR 811
RAP 13.4passim
OTHER AUTHORITIES
The Chicago Manual of Style 5.126 (16th ed. 2010) 10
House Commerce & Labor Committee Hearing on ESHB 3059, February 3, 2004, available at https://www.tvw.org/watch/?eventID=2004021377 (last visited July 6, 2021)

Brook Gotberg, Optimal Deterrence and the
Preference Gap, 2018 B.Y.U. L. Rev. 559 (2018) 14
Edward R. Morrison, Bargaining Around Bankruptcy: Small Business Workouts and State Law, 38 J. Legal Stud. 255 (2009)
Marjorie Rombauer, 28 Wash. Prac., § 9.38 (September 2020 update)12
U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, Table 7: Survival of private sector establishments by opening year, available at https://www.bls.gov/bdm/wa_age_total_table7.txt (last visited July 6, 2021)
Webster's Third New International Dictionary (1993) 19

A. Identity of Petitioners.

The petitioners are Michael Coaker & Marilee Coaker, appellants in the Court of Appeals.

B. Court of Appeals Decision.

Petitioners seek review of the Court of Appeals' March 29, 2021, decision affirming a decision from the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals imposing liability on the Coakers for a \$580,000 assessment against their former company. A copy of the decision is attached as Appendix A. The Court of Appeals issued an order publishing its decision on April 8, 2021 (App. B) and denied petitioners' motion for reconsideration on June 3, 2021. (App. C)

C. Issues Presented for Review.

The Court of Appeals decision raises two novel issues of first impression:

1. RCW 51.48.055(4) provides that a corporate "officer ... is not liable [for assessments against a corporation] if all of the assets of the corporation ... have been applied to its debts through bankruptcy." The Court of Appeals interpreted RCW 51.48.055(4) as shielding a corporate officer from liability only if its assets have been applied to its debts in bankruptcy before the corporation dissolves. Did the Court of Appeals erroneously ignore the tense of the statute

and render it effectively meaningless because most corporations have no reason to file for bankruptcy instead of simply dissolving?

2. As the Court of Appeals acknowledged, it is undisputed "the Coakers did not deliberately fail to pay any assessment due" between 2009 and 2012, the period covered by the Department of Labor and Industries' audit of their former corporation. (App. A at 5) Did the Court of Appeals erroneously hold the Coakers "willfully" failed to pay premiums between 2009 and 2012 because they "made no attempt to pay any part of the assessment and refused to discuss a payment plan for the additional premiums" in 2015, after their corporation went out of business? (App. A at 13)

D. Statement of the Case.

Michael and Marilee Coaker founded Mike's Roofing, Inc., in 1988. (CR 382-83) Started as a roofing company, Mike's Roofing evolved into a general construction company that performed residential, commercial, and public works projects. (CR 383-84, 386) As with many other companies, Mike's Roofing prospered in the years before the Great Recession and then struggled to find work between 2008 and 2012. (CR 388, 395-96)

Mr. Coaker was the President of Mike's Roofing and Ms. Coaker its Vice President; both were responsible for the payment of industrial insurance premiums and associated reporting to the Department of Labor and Industries ("the Department"). (FF 6, CR 10; CR 100) Prior to 2012, the Department audited Mike's Roofing's payment of premiums three times—two of the audits found Mike's Roofing had fully paid its premiums; the third found that Mike's Roofing had overpaid its premiums. (CR 100, 413-14) The last of these audits was resolved in February 2012. (CR 415, 630-31)

Less than three months later, in May 2012, the Department audited Mike's Roofing a fourth time, this time reviewing its payment of premiums from the third quarter of 2009 through the second quarter of 2012. (FF 2, CR 9-10; CR 412-13, 419-20) Frustrated, Mr. Coaker asked the Department why his company was being audited so quickly after the last audit. (CR 419-20) After the Department falsely told Mr. Coaker the audit was random, Mr. Coaker refused to comply with the Department's request for records. (CR 247, 261, 419-20)¹

The Department then conducted an audit that assumed Mike's Roofing's workers did nothing but roofing for every hour of every day, and determined that it owed \$480,474.61 in additional premiums for the third quarter of 2009 through the second quarter

¹ The audit was in fact triggered by a Washington Industrial Safety and Health Act inspection report alleging Mike's Roofing used the wrong risk classification to report its workers' hours. (CR 247)

of 2012. (CR 250; *see also* CR 261)² After adding penalties and interest, the Department sent Mike's Roofing a notice of assessment ordering it to pay \$579,586.87. (CR 9, 242)

Mike's Roofing appealed the assessment and provided the Department records responsive to the audit, but the Department refused to consider them. (CR 242, 259) The Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals ("the Board") affirmed the assessment on April 13, 2015. (CR 242-64) The Board concluded Mike's Roofing violated RCW 51.48.030 and RCW 51.48.040 "by failing to keep adequate records of worker hours and by refusing to provide any records to the Department auditor in this case." (CR 262) The Board did not find that Mike's Roofing violated RCW 51.48.020 by underreporting the hours worked by its employees.

Mike's Roofing exhausted its resources fighting the Department's nearly \$600,000 assessment and could not afford to pay it when it became final in April 2015. (CR 83, 436, 489) Mike's Roofing thus stopped seeking new work, dissolved on October 22,

² Roofing is one of the most hazardous jobs and thus has one of the highest industrial insurance premiums, a fact underscored by the Department's audit, which imputed as much as \$76,625 in premiums to Mike's Roofing for a single quarter, 166% of what it paid for *all* of 2007 when it was at the height of its success. (*Compare* CR 630, *with* CR 660)

2015, and ultimately filed for Chapter 7 bankruptcy on March 9, 2017. (CR 83, 267-69, 436, 489, 670)

On February 1, 2016, the Department issued an order under RCW 51.48.055 imposing liability on the Coakers for the assessment against Mike's Roofing based on its allegation they "willfully" failed to pay the premiums owed by Mike's Roofing. (CR 9, 271-73) After the Coakers appealed, an industrial appeals judge ("IAJ") found that "[b]etween July 2009 and June 2012, [the Coakers] did not deliberately fail to pay any assessment due, under report, or report incorrect risk classifications" and that "[i]n April 2015, [Mike's Roofing] had no or very little cash, because it was spent on legal fees" disputing the assessment. (CR 83) The IAJ nonetheless affirmed the Department's order and found "willfulness is demonstrated" because the Coakers "made no attempt to pay the assessment upon the issuance of the Board's April 13, 2015 order" and "refused to discuss a payment plan" with the Department. (CR 93)

The IAJ also rejected the Coakers' reliance on RCW 51.48.055(4), which states an individual cannot be personally liable for an assessment "if all of the assets of the [business] have been applied to its debts through bankruptcy." The IAJ reasoned the statute requires the business's bankruptcy to be "resolved" before the

defense can apply and that because Mike's Roofing's bankruptcy was still pending the Coakers were not protected by the statute. (CR 96)

The Coakers appealed the IAJ's decision to the Board. (CR 24-40) The Board affirmed the IAJ's decision, adopting her findings and conclusions verbatim. (CR 6-12) Although Mike's Roofing's bankruptcy had by now been closed based on the bankruptcy trustee's finding after "diligent inquiry . . . that there is no property available for distribution" (CR 72-73), the Board rejected the Coakers renewed reliance on RCW 51.48.055(4). (CR 5-8, 38-40)

The Board also found the "uncontroverted facts demonstrate that the basis for the underlying assessment against Mike's Roofing was the company was under-reporting employee hours," as revealed by the Department audit that "discover[ed] [a] discrepancy" between reports to the Department and "Employment Security filings that reported far higher hours." (CR 9) The Board reasoned that "[w]e cannot accept the Coakers' argument that as long as a company pays any premium, even though they are aware they are under-reporting

the hours, they are in compliance with the law." (CR 9)³ The Coakers appealed to the superior court, which affirmed the Board's decision. (CP 86-87)

The Court of Appeals again affirmed the Board in a March 29, 2021, decision that it published on April 8, 2021. (App. A-B) The Court of Appeals held that for the defense in RCW 51.48.055(4) to apply the "application of assets to debts must have already been completed at the time the officer's liability is assessed," *i.e.*, "[u]pon termination, dissolution, or abandonment'" of the company. (App. A at 10-11 (quoting RCW 51.48.055(1)) The Court of Appeals also affirmed the finding the Coakers willfully failed to pay premiums that became due between 2009 and 2012, adopting the IAJ's reasoning they did so because they "made no attempt to pay any part of the assessment and refused to discuss a payment plan" after the assessment became final in April 2015. (App. A at 13)

³ Contrary to the Board's finding, the Coakers did not report "far higher hours" to the Employment Security Department. As discussed above, "the basis for the underlying assessment" was the failure to cooperate with an audit, not underreporting. (See CR 262) The Court of Appeals did not address the Coakers' argument the Board's decision rested on "a basic misunderstanding of why the Department imposed the underlying assessment" and a non-existent "discrepancy." (App. Br. 34-35) For the twelve quarters covered by the audit, the third-party payroll manager for Mike's Roofing reported 22,706 hours to the Employment Security Department and 22,626 hours to the Department, an 80 hour (.3%) difference amounting to \$148 in premiums. (See Reply in Support of Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration 2-5)

E. Argument Why This Court Should Grant Review.

1. The Court of Appeals decision misinterprets RCW 51.48.055(4), renders the statute meaningless, and creates absurd results that will negatively affect Washington businesses.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the imposition of liability on the Coakers for a nearly \$600,000 assessment against their former business based on its holding that RCW 51.48.055(4) only protects business officers if a bankruptcy court has applied the business's assets to its debts *before* it is dissolved, terminated, or abandoned. That holding, on an issue of first impression, misinterprets the language and purpose of the statute, conflicts with Washington precedent, and will adversely affect Washington businesses and their officers. This Court should grant review. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2), (4).

a. The Court of Appeals misinterpreted the plain language of RCW 51.48.055(4) by ignoring its verb tense.

RCW 51.48.055(1) allows the Department to impose personal liability on any officer, member, or manager of a corporation or LLC for an unpaid assessment "[u]pon termination, dissolution, or abandonment" of the corporation or LLC if the officer or other person "willfully fails to pay . . . any premiums due":

Upon termination, dissolution, or abandonment of a corporate or limited liability company business, any officer, member, manager, or other person having control or supervision of payment and/or reporting of industrial insurance, or who is charged with the responsibility for the filing of returns, is personally liable for any unpaid premiums and interest and penalties on those premiums if such officer or other person willfully fails to pay or to cause to be paid any premiums due...

RCW 51.48.055(4) then provides that an "officer, member, manager, or other person *is not* liable if all of the assets of the corporation or limited liability company have been applied to its debts through bankruptcy or receivership." (emphasis added)

The Court of Appeals ignored the plain language of RCW 51.48.055(4) in holding a corporate officer is not liable for assessments only if the "application of assets to debts [has] already been completed at the time the officer's liability is assessed," *i.e.*, "[u]pon termination, dissolution, or abandonment" of the company. (App. A at 10-11) In particular, the Court of Appeals overlooked that by using the present tense of "to be" ("is not liable") the Legislature made clear that the defense in 51.48.055(4) applies if the business's assets have been applied to its debts in bankruptcy at the time the defense is raised and ruled upon. As this Court has previously held, when the Legislature uses the present tense to direct courts to consider the existence or nonexistence of a particular fact, "the 'pertinent time point' is the point at which the court makes the

[relevant] determination." Dependency of D.L.B., 186 Wn.2d 103, 117, ¶ 34, 376 P.3d 1099 (2016).

The Court of Appeals also ignored that the phrase "have been applied" in RCW 51.48.055(4) is present perfect tense, which this Court has stressed "denotes an act, state, or condition that is now completed or continues up to the present." Estate of Bunch v. McGraw Residential Ctr., 174 Wn.2d 425, 433-34, ¶ 14, 275 P.3d 1119 (2012) (quoting The Chicago Manual of Style 5.126, at 237 (16th ed. 2010)) (emphasis added). In other words, the present perfect tense describes a completed or continuing action from the perspective of the present, confirming RCW 51.48.055(4) applies so long as the corporation's assets "have been applied to its debts" when an officer—in the present—asserts the statute as a defense. While the Court of Appeals purported to analyze the statute's "plain language," it entirely ignored its tense, in conflict with D.L.B. and Bunch. RAP 13.4(b)(1); see also U.S. v. Wilson, 503 U.S. 329, 333, 112 S. Ct. 1351, 1354, 117 L. Ed. 2d 593 (1992) ("Congress' use of a verb tense is significant in construing statutes.").

The Court of Appeals instead reasoned the facts supporting the defense in RCW 51.48.055(4) must be "assessed at the same time as specified in subsection (1)," "[b]ecause [it] is an exception to the general rule" of liability in RCW 51.48.055(1). (Op. 10 (internal quotation omitted)) But numerous defenses are based on facts that arise *after* those supporting liability, including laches, waiver, and the statute of limitations. *See generally* CR 8(c). By their very nature, affirmative defenses do not "negate[] an element of the action which the plaintiff must prove," but instead seek to avoid liability based on facts distinct from those supporting the underlying claim. *Kastanis v. Educ. Emps. Credit Union*, 122 Wn.2d 483, 493, 859 P.2d 26 (1993), *amended*, 122 Wn.2d 483 (1994).

b. The Court of Appeals decision ignores the purpose of RCW 51.48.055(4) and bedrock principles of corporate law.

The Court of Appeals decision also conflicts with the purpose of RCW 51.48.055. As the Department's Director explained to the Legislature when it first adopted RCW 51.48.055, the statute was intended to "prevent[] an officer from taking all the money out of a company, closing it down, and avoiding its legitimate obligations." *See* House Commerce & Labor Committee Hearing on ESHB 3059, February 3, 2004.⁴ RCW 51.48.055(4) achieves this purpose by

⁴ ESHB 3059 was incorporated into ESHB 3188, the bill that eventually passed and became RCW 51.48.055. The audio for the hearing is available at https://www.tvw.org/watch/?eventID=2004021377 (last visited July 6, 2021) and the relevant testimony begins at 1:21:07.

requiring businesses to confirm through a judicial proceeding, either bankruptcy or receivership, that its assets "have been applied to its debts" and not wrongfully diverted to its officers.

That purpose was indisputably served here—Mike's Roofing's bankruptcy trustee confirmed after "diligent inquiry . . . that there is no property available for distribution." (CR 72) The fact that neither the Department nor the trustee alleged wrongdoing by the Coakers confirms none occurred. The Court of Appeals' draconian interpretation of RCW 51.48.055(4) does not further its purpose, but instead creates the absurd results discussed below. (*See* § E.1.c)

The Court of Appeals decision also conflicts with the bedrock principle that corporate officers cannot be liable for the debts of a corporation unless "the corporation has been intentionally used to violate or evade a duty owed to another." *Morgan v. Burks*, 93 Wn.2d 580, 585, 611 P.2d 751 (1980); *see also Landstar Inway Inc.* v. Samrow, 181 Wn. App. 109, 131, ¶ 43, 325 P.3d 327 (2014) ("Absent some kind of fraud or abuse of the corporate form, we respect [its] separate existence"). RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2). Far from requiring the Department to show an abuse of the corporate form, the Court of Appeals decision allows it to impose liability on corporate officers merely because they did not—or could not—

compel the corporation to file a bankruptcy that in almost all cases will provide no benefit to the corporation. (See § E.1.c)

Since more than half of the thousands of small businesses opened in Washington each year fail within four years, the Court of Appeals decision will deter entrepreneurship and burden countless business officers with personal liability despite no wrongdoing on their part. *See* U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, Table 7: Survival of private sector establishments by opening year (45.2% of Washington small businesses started in 2016 remained in business by 2020).⁵ This Court should grant review to prevent this erroneous imposition of liability on Washington entrepreneurs. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

c. The decision below renders RCW 51.48.055(4) meaningless and forces businesses to file pointless bankruptcies.

Because the Court of Appeals interpreted RCW 51.48.055(4) to require application of a business's assets to its debts *before* it is dissolved, terminated, or abandoned, the only way RCW 51.48.055(4) could ever prevent an officer's liability is if the business filed for bankruptcy prior to its dissolution. But there is little reason for corporations or LLCs to file for Chapter 7 bankruptcy because,

⁵ Available at https://www.bls.gov/bdm/wa_age_total_table7.txt (last visited July 6, 2021).

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