FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/2/2021 4:15 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 99954-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MICHAEL AND MARILEE COAKER, and the marital community composed thereof,

Appellants,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW, DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Steve Vinyard Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 29737 Office Id. No. 91022 P.O. Box 40121 Olympia, WA 98104-0121 (360) 586-7715

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

IV. ARGUMENT

This case turns on the routine interpretation of RCW 51.48.055. There is no conflict with cases involving statutory construction principles warranting this Court's review, contrary to the Coakers' claims. The Coakers' proposed interpretation of the statute does not present an issue of substantial public interest and, to the contrary, would allow companies to avoid replenishing the State Fund, defeating the purpose of the statute.

RCW 51.48.055 must be interpreted in the context of the Industrial Insurance Act. The Act's fundamental purpose is to reduce economic suffering caused by industrial injuries and

provide broad coverage to advance that goal. RCW 51.04.010; RCW 51.12.010. The more a statute facilitates full collection of premiums, the better it ensures the State Fund can be used to pay benefits to injured workers. *See Littlejohn Constr. Co. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 74 Wn. App. 420, 426, 873 P.2d 583 (1994).

RCW 51.48.055 authorizes the Department to find the officers of a dissolved corporation personally liable for the company's unpaid premiums. The statute ensures that the Department can collect unpaid premiums even if the company that failed to pay the premiums has dissolved, at least when the nonpayment was willful. *Hopkins v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 11 Wn. App. 2d. 349, 355-56, 453 P.3d 755 (2019). The Department relies on premiums from employers to pay for the benefits it provides to workers who suffer on the job injuries. *Id.* at 355; *WR Enterprises, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 147 Wn.2d 213, 216-17, 53 P.3d 504 (2002). Preventing the

Department from collecting premiums owed to it by a defunct business undermines this purpose.

Finally, the finding that the Coakers willfully failed to pay premiums is supported by substantial evidence, and the Coakers' disagreement with that finding does not present an issue warranting this Court's review.

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Correctly Interpreted RCW 51.48.055's Plain Language and Does Not Conflict with Statutory Construction Principles

No conflict exists with any appellate precedent because the Court of Appeals appropriately applied plain language principles of statutory construction to resolve this case. The Coakers offer, as a basis for review under RAP 13.4(d)(1), a purported conflict with non-workers' compensation cases stating general propositions about grammar tenses. Pet. 9-10. They show no conflict with those cases, which set only general propositions that are not relevant here, and they ignore fundamental principles about plain language statutory construction in making their arguments. And they fail to show

that the Court of Appeals misapplied the law when it interpreted RCW 51.48.055.

The bankruptcy provision of RCW 51.48.055 is an exception from coverage, and as such, it is construed narrowly to facilitate the purpose of the statute: to collect premiums to reimburse injured workers. See Bostain v. Food Exp., Inc., 159 Wn.2d 700, 712, 153 P.3d 846 (2007) (exceptions to remedial statutes must be "narrowly construed and applied only to situations which are plainly and unmistakably consistent with the terms and spirit of the legislation."). Under the plain language of RCW 51.48.055(4), a corporation must complete the bankruptcy process before the Department issues a notice of assessment for the exemption to shield a corporate officer from liability. Any other reading would undermine the purpose of RCW 51.48.055, which is to allow the Department to collect premiums from defunct corporations when the corporation's officers willfully failed to pay premiums.

Reading RCW 51.48.055 subsections (1), (2), and (4) together shows that the defense provided in subsection (4) applies only if the bankruptcy process is complete before the Department issues its notice of assessment. The statute provides:

(1) Upon termination, dissolution, or abandonment of a corporate or limited liability company business, any officer . . . is personally liable for any unpaid premiums and interest and penalties on those premiums if such officer or other person willfully fails to pay or to cause to be paid any premiums due the department under chapter 51.16 RCW.

For purposes of this subsection "willfully fails to pay or to cause to be paid" means that the failure was the result of an intentional, conscious, and voluntary course of action.

(2) The officer, member, manager, or other person is liable only for premiums that became due during the period he or she had the control, supervision, responsibility, or duty to act for the corporation described in subsection (1) of this section, plus interest and penalties on those premiums.

. . . .

(4) The officer, member, manager, or other person *is not liable* if all of the assets of the corporation or

limited liability company have been applied to its debts through bankruptcy or receivership.

RCW 51.48.055 (emphasis added).

Under subsection (1), it is the corporation's dissolution ("[u]pon . . . dissolution") that triggers the corporate officer having liability for the corporation's unpaid premiums, penalties, and interest. Subsection (2) clarifies that the officer is liable for premiums that "became due" at a time that the officer had control over the payment of premiums. So read together, under subsections (1) and (2), the "dissolution" of the company makes the officer "liable" for unpaid premiums that "became due" during a period of control.

Subsection (4) then provides that, even if the company has dissolved, the officer is not liable for the unpaid premiums that "became due" if all of the corporation's assets "have been applied to the company's debts" through bankruptcy. So if all of the company's debts have been discharged through bankruptcy when the Department issues a notice of assessment charging the officer with personal liability, the notice of

assessment would be wrong: the officer "is not liable" for the unpaid premiums because all the assets "have been applied" to the company's debts. RCW 51.48.055(4). But if, as here, the company has not declared bankruptcy when the Department issues its assessment, let alone completed the bankruptcy process, then the officer is liable for the unpaid premiums, penalties, and interest, because it would not be true that all of the company's assets "have been applied" to its debts. *Id*.

That subsection (4) includes language in the present tense supports the Department, not the Coakers. The present tense language in subsection (4) relates to the corporate officer's liability under an order charging the officer for unpaid premiums that "became due" during their control. So the officer "is not liable" under a notice of assessment charging them with personal liability if all of the company's assets "have been applied" to its debts at that time.

The Coakers point to the "[t]he officer, member, manager, or other person *is not liable*" statutory language. Pet.

9-10. But they ignore that the rest of the sentence provides that the time is set by determining "if all of the assets of the corporation or limited liability company *have been applied to its debts* through bankruptcy." Thus, the *have been applied* language is operative. The Court of Appeals' construction of the statute considers its plain language and context, consistent with *Dependency of DLB*, 186 Wn.2d 103, 117, 376 P.3d 1099 (2016) and there is no conflict.

The Coakers incorrectly argue that the Court of Appeals' interpretation conflicts with *DLB*, based on an overbroad reading of it. Pet. 9-10. *DLB* did not hold that *any time* a statute uses the present tense, a court should base its decision on the facts that exist at the time the court is making that decision.

Rather, *DLB* looked to other provisions in the statutory scheme, and the legislative purpose of the statute, to determine when the statute was operable. Likewise, here the Court of Appeals properly looked at the complete language of the statute and its intent when construing the statute.

Similarly, the Coakers incorrectly argue the decision conflicts with *Estate of Bunch v. McGraw Residential Center*, 174 Wn.2d 425, 433-34, 275 P.3d 1119 (2012). Pet. 10. *Estate of Bunch* recognizes that the present perfect tense describes a state of affairs that was completed in the past and continues to the present. *Estate of Bunch*, 174 Wn.2d at 433-34. But the Court's reading of RCW 51.48.055(4) tracks both the present tense and present perfect tense language in that subsection: the corporate officer "is" not liable at the time of the personal liability assessment if the assets of the corporation "have been applied" to its debts. The Coakers show no conflict.

B. The Coakers Have Not Shown an Issue of Substantial Public Interest

As discussed above, the Coakers have not shown that the Court of Appeals' interpretation of the statute conflicts with precedent. Nor does their contrary interpretation present an issue of substantial public interest warranting this Court's review. To the contrary, the ordinary application of

RCW 51.48.055 ensures that companies cannot get out of paying industrial insurance appeals by simply changing their legal status. RCW 51.48.055 must be read to accomplish this purpose and in doing so cannot be interpreted so that its terms are rendered meaningless or in conflict with the statute's purpose. *See Rivard v. State*, 168 Wn.2d 775, 783, 231 P.3d 186 (2010).

Yet the Coakers ask for a reading of the exemption that not only conflicts with its plain language but also renders the statute virtually useless as a mechanism to collect premiums from defunct employers. Pet. 8-17. As noted above, the Coakers candidly disclose that their reading of the statute would allow companies to declare bankruptcy when the company "learn[s] there was in fact a reason to file for bankruptcy—to allow its officers to avail themselves of RCW 51.48.055(4)" once they learn of the willful liability assessment. Pet. 15. But if the corporate officer can file for bankruptcy on the company's behalf long after the Department issues its notice of assessment,

and doing so causes the personal liability assessment to become retroactively incorrect, then the exception in subsection (4) swallows the rule.

This is because under the Coakers' theory there would be no deadline for a corporation to file for bankruptcy, so the corporation's controlling officers could unilaterally terminate their own liability at any time. On the other hand, requiring the corporation to complete the bankruptcy process before the Department issues its order means that the officers cannot unilaterally immunize themselves from liability at any time, which means RCW 51.48.055 remains effective as a tool to collect premiums when corporate officers willfully failed to pay premiums. This requirement to complete the bankruptcy before the assessment reflects that the bankruptcy exemption is only a narrow exception from coverage.

The Coakers insist that their reading of the statute gives corporations "a reasonable, but not indefinite" period to declare bankruptcy and still rely on the exemption in subsection (4).

Pet. 16. But their reading of the statute does not do that because there is no deadline on when a corporation can declare bankruptcy. There would be an effectively indefinite window to declare bankruptcy because the corporation can declare bankruptcy at any time and the appeals process could be used to extend litigation about any assessment for many years, buying time for the bankruptcy to be completed.

The Coakers argue that the Legislature's purpose in including subsection (4) in RCW 51.48.055 was to extend the "bedrock principle" that corporate officers are generally not personally liable for the debts of a corporation. Pet. 12 (citing Morgan v. Burks, 93 Wn.2d 580, 585, 611 P.2d 751 (1980) and Landstar Inway, Inc. v. Samrow, 181 Wn. App. 109, 131, 325 P.3d 327 (2014)). But those cases refer to the traditional rules about corporate officer liability, not the specific enactment in RCW 51.48.055, the express purpose of which is to extend personal liability to corporate officers who willfully failed to pay premiums on the corporation's behalf. And it is implausible

that the Legislature would extend personal liability to corporate officers only to then create a loophole which effectively guts that extension. RCW 51.48.055 protects injured workers by closing a gap in coverage for employers who willfully fail to pay premiums and then dissolve, so its exemptions should be read narrowly so that it can serve its purpose.

On a related note, the Coakers insist that a statute should not be read in a vacuum, and should be read with its objectives and consequences in mind, citing *Burns v. City of Seattle*, 161 Wn.2d 129, 146, 164 P.3d 475 (2007), but it is the Coakers who ignore the objectives of the statute. Pet. 14-15. The statute's objective is to discourage willful nonpayment of industrial insurance premiums and to close a gap in coverage when employers dissolve a business without paying premiums. This purpose is furthered by a narrow reading of subsection (4) and thwarted by an overbroad one. *See Bostain*, 159 Wn.2d at 712 (exceptions read narrowly).

The Coakers also incorrectly argue that a company has little reason to file for bankruptcy other than doing so to trigger RCW 51.48.055(4)'s exemption for corporate officers, so the statute should be read broadly to allow for late bankruptcies. Pet. 13-14. This argument fails for two reasons. First, it greatly overstates the case to say companies have little other reason to file for bankruptcy than obtaining the benefits of subsection (4): the data the Coakers cited at the Court of Appeals shows that while more individuals than corporations file for bankruptcy, almost 14,000 corporations filed for chapter 7 bankruptcy in 2018 alone. See Appellant's Br. 25. It is unlikely that more than a tiny fraction of those corporations did so to try to obtain the benefits of RCW 51.48.055(4) for their officers. Second, the Coakers make the wrong inference from the fact that corporations relatively rarely declare bankruptcy: the Legislature presumably was aware of this fact and intended for subsection (4) to be a narrow exemption.

The Coakers also wrongly argue that the opinion here conflicts with *Hopkins*, 11 Wn. App. 2d 349, by taking a phrase from that decision out of context. Pet. 17. In *Hopkins*, a statute of limitations case, the petitioner argued that even for actions brought to collect premiums against corporate officers personally, the three-year limitations period should begin on the date the company fails to pay its premiums. *Hopkins*, 11 Wn. App. 2d at 352. The court instead held that the statute begins to run when the company dissolves and the officer becomes personally liable. Id. at 352-57. In rejecting the petitioner's argument, the court agreed with the Board judge's observation that the petitioner's interpretation would mean "[a] financially troubled corporation would only have to avoid dissolution or abandonment of the corporate form for three years to totally remove any corporate officer liability." *Id.* at 356. Thus, Hopkins interpreted the statute of limitations to avoid allowing a company to delay dissolving just to avoid the willful liability assessment. *Hopkins*'s holding supports that there should not be games playing of the sort that the Coakers advocate to avoid paying premiums. *Id.* The Coakers show no conflict and no issue of substantial public interest, so their petition should be denied.

Finally, the Coakers make several policy arguments that ignore that RCW 51.48.055(4)'s exemption only becomes relevant in the first place when a corporate officer willfully fails to pay premiums. The Coakers argue that the Department's reading of the statute requires corporations to be "clairvoyan[t]" (Pet. 15), creates "perverse incentive[s]" to file bankruptcies (Pet. 16), and will thwart entrepreneurship and cause "financial ruin" (Pet 16). These arguments fail.

No clairvoyance is needed to avoid liability: an officer who does not willfully fail to pay premiums is not liable. And the incentive the Department's reading of the statute creates is to encourage employers to pay premiums if the employer can do so, which is hardly perverse. Nor is it perverse to encourage a corporation to file for bankruptcy if the reason it is dissolving

is that it cannot pay its debts. This is the purpose of bankruptcy laws. And the only entrepreneurs who would be chilled from doing business are ones who willfully fail to pay premiums.

Nor is widespread financial ruin a plausible scenario under any reading of the statute, because presumably very few employers willfully fail to pay premiums.

The Coakers fail to show any conflict with case law or an issue of substantial public interest, and their arguments about the statute lack support. Review should be denied.

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